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KAZEROUNI LAW GROUP, APC
245 Fischer Avenue, Suite D1

Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Telephone: (800) 400-6808
Facsimile: (800) 520-5523

Joseph Z. Samo, Esg. (SBN: 208836)
SAMO LAW GROUP
Joseph@SamoLaw.com

2221 Camino Del Rio South, #305
San Diego, CA 92108

Telephone: (619) 672-1741
Facsimile: (619) 393-0293

Attorneys for Plaintiffs,
THOMAS TRAX and JODI CILLEY

THOMAS TRAX and JODI CILLEY,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly-situated,

Plaintiff,

VS.
TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR
AGENCIES d/b/a THE TOLL ROADS;
FANEUIL, INC.; and DOES 1 to 10,

inclusive,

Defendants.
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Abbas Kazerounian, Esg. (SBN: 249203)

[Additional Plaintiffs’ Counsel on Signature Page]

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No.: '"18CV0420 DMS BLM

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR
DAMAGES FOR VIOLATIONS OF:

1. UNFAIR COMPETITION
LAW, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code
88 17200, et seq.;

2. FAIR DEBT COLLECTION
PRACTICES ACT, 15 U.S.C.
88 1692, et seq.; and

3. ROSENTHAL FAIR DEBT
COLLECTION PRACTICES
ACT, Cal. Civ. Code 88 1788,
et seq.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

-1-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




© 0O N o o1 b WO DN PP

N N DD NN NN NN R B P B B B R R R
0 N o O B~ W N P O © 0 N o o W N P O

tase 3:18-cv-00420-DMS-BLM  Document 1 Filed 02/23/18 PagelD.2 Page 2 of 19

INTRODUCTION

1. The United States Congress has found abundant evidence of the use of abusive,

deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by many debt collectors, and has
determined that abusive debt collection practices contribute to the number of
personal bankruptcies, to marital instability, to the loss of jobs, and to invasions
of individual privacy. Congress wrote the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act,
15 U.S.C. 88 1692, et seq. (hereinafter “FDCPA”), to eliminate abusive debt
collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those debt collectors who
refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not competitively
disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers

against debt collection abuses.

. Similarly, the California legislature has determined that the banking and credit

system and grantors of credit to consumers are dependent upon the collection of
just and owing debts and that unfair or deceptive collection practices undermine
the public confidence that is essential to the continued functioning of the banking
and credit system, and sound extensions of credit to consumers. The Legislature
further determined that there is a need to ensure that debt collectors exercise this
responsibility with fairness, honesty and due regard for the debtor’s rights, and
that debt collectors must be prohibited from engaging in unfair or deceptive acts
or practices. With that in mind, the California legislature enacted the Rosenthal
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, California Civil Code 88 1788-1788.32
(“Rosenthal Act”).

. Plaintiffs THOMAS TRAX (“Mr. Trax” or “Plaintiff’) and JODI CILLEY

(“Ms. Cilley” or “Plaintiff”) (collectively the “Plaintiffs”), individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated, bring this Class Action Complaint for

damages, injunctive relief, and any other available legal or equitable remedies
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resulting from the actions of defendants TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR
AGENCIES d/b/a THE TOLL ROADS (“TCA”) and FANEUIL, INC.
(“Faneuil”) (collectively “the Defendants™) in unlawfully and abusively
attempting to collect a debt allegedly owed by Plaintiffs, and thereby causing

damage to Plaintiffs.

. Plaintiffs make these allegations on information and belief, with the exception

of those allegations that pertain directly to a specific plaintiff, which Plaintiffs

allege on personal knowledge.

. While many violations are described below with specificity, this Complaint

alleges violations of the statutes cited in their entirety.

. Unless otherwise stated, all of the conduct engaged in by Defendants, or any

directors, officers, employees, guides, agents, independent contractors,
subcontractors, representatives, successors or assigns, thereof, took place in

California.

. Any violations by Defendants was knowing, willful, and intentional, and

Defendants and the directors, officers, employees, guides, agents, independent
contractors, subcontractors, representatives, successors or assigns, thereof, did

not maintain procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such specific violation.

. All violations alleged regarding the FDCPA or California’s Rosenthal Act are

material violations of those statutes as these violations would limit the ability of
a hypothetical least sophisticated debtor to make an intelligent choice as to the

alleged debt and actions that should be taken to resolve the alleged debt.

. Through this Class Action Complaint, Plaintiffs do not allege that any state court

judgment was entered against Plaintiffs in error, and Plaintiffs do not seek to

reverse or modify any judgment of any state court.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.Jurisdiction of this Court arises pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 15 U.S.C. §
1692(k), and 28 U.S.C. § 1367, for supplemental state claims.

11.This action arises out of Defendants’ violations of the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”); California’s Rosenthal
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, California Civil Code 8§ 1788-1788.32
(“Rosenthal Act”); and California’s Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code 88 17200, et seq. (“UCL”).

12.This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims arising from Defendants’
violations of Federal and California state law.

13.Because each Defendant conducts business within the State of California,
personal jurisdiction is established.

14.Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

15.At all times relevant, both Defendants conducted business within the State of
California.

PARTIES

16.Plaintiffs are natural persons who reside in the County of San Diego, State of
California, from whom a debt collector sought to collect a consumer debt which
was due and owing, or alleged to be due and owing.

17.Plaintiffs are each a “consumer” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

18.Plaintiffs are each a “debtor” as that term is defined under Cal. Civ. Code §
1788.2(h).

19.Defendant TCA is a public agency with its principal place of business in Irvine,
California.

20.Defendant TCA operates a public toll road system comprised of State Routes
73, 133, 241, and 261.

21.Defendant Faneuil is located in the City of Hampton, in the State of Virginia.
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22 .Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Faneuil, during its
ordinary course of business, regularly, on behalf of itself and/or others, engages
in “debt collection™ as that term is defined under Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.2(b);
and is therefore a “debt collector” as that term is defined under Cal. Civ. Code §
1788.2(c).

23.This case involves money, property, or its equivalent, due or owing, or alleged
to be due or owing, from a natural person to another person, primarily for
personal, family, or household purposes. As such, this action involves a
“consumer debt” incurred as the result of a “consumer credit transaction” as
those terms are defined under Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.2.

24.The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate (including officers
and directors thereof), associate, or otherwise, of the Doe Defendants, are
unknown to Plaintiff. Thus, Plaintiff sues these defendants by such fictitious
names pursuant to California Civil Procedure Code § 474. Plaintiff is informed
and believes, and alleges thereon, that each defendant designated as a “Doe” is
involved in, or is in some manner responsible, as a principal, beneficiary, agent,
co-conspirator, joint venturer, alter ego, third party beneficiary, or otherwise, for
the agreements, transactions, events, and/or acts described herein, and thereby
proximately caused injuries and damages to Plaintiff. Plaintiff requests that
when the true names and capacities of these Doe Defendants are ascertained,
they may be inserted in all subsequent proceedings, and that this action may
proceed against them under their true names.

25.Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at all times
mentioned herein, the Doe Defendants, 1 through 10, were agents or employees
of each of their co-defendants, and by engaging in the conduct alleged herein,
each was acting within the scope of their authority as such agent or employee,

and with the permission and consent of their co-defendants, and each of them.
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

26.0n information and belief, Defendant TCA has been conducting business as a

toll road operation in California for over twenty years.

27.TCA advertises itself as a “publicly-owned toll facilit[y].”

28.Contrary to its occasional claim to the contrary, on information and belief, TCA
is not a government agency.

29.Today, more than 300,000 transactions between TCA and California drivers are
recorded each day, with TCA grossing an enormous profit from those
transactions.

30.0ne of the ways in which TCA profits is when persons intentionally drive their
vehicles on the toll roads maintained by TCA, which creates an implied contract
between the driver and TCA for the driver to pay a nominal amount of money
to TCA for one-time use of its roadway.

31.All tolls on TCA’s roadways are assessed electronically. There are no traditional
toll booths where a driver can stop and pay with cash.

32.Electronic means includes cameras, motion devices, and other recording
equipment, which is used to document or record transactions between drivers
and TCA. Further, future payment is expected to be made electronically using a
credit system implemented by TCA, referred to as “FasTrak®”; “Charge
ExpressAccount®”; “Invoice ExpressAcount®”’; “Prepaid ExpressAccount®”;
or “One-Time-Toll®”, rather than immediate payment.

33.All ExpressAccount and One-Time-Toll drivers are expected to pay an inflated
amount compared to other forms of payments of money for the use of TCA’s
roads even though TCA does not advertise the amount of money to consumers
before consumers use TCA’s roadways.

34.Another way that TCA makes money in California is when persons drive their

vehicles on the toll roads and subsequently these persons fail to pay a toll for the
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use of those toll roads, and thereafter TCA “penalizes” those persons through
California state authority, and in turn those persons are thereafter expected to
pay the toll fees as well as the penalty.

35.After a period of time transpires from the consumer’s use of the toll roads in
which the consumer fails to pay this toll, TCA makes a determination that these
consumers are attempting to “evade,” even though TCA does not advertise the
fee to consumers before consumers use the toll roads, and even though TCA has
no evidence of any “evasion” other than mere non-payment of the toll.

36.Thereafter, TCA alleges the fee is owed to it, along with an additional amount,
which TCA calls a “penalty,” and assigns, places, or otherwise transfers this
alleged debt to Defendant Faneuil for collection of the debt, which Faneuil
thereafter calls “violation processing, and violation processing services.”

37.Faneuil never purchases the debts, but instead collects the debts for TCA, and
others, as a debt collector and agent of TCA.

38.Faneuil claims to have been collecting consumer debts for over 23 years, and
attempts to collect these debts through a system it claims it designs and installs,
as well as through the more traditional debt collection methods of sending letters
and making calls to consumers Faneuil’s customers claim owe consumer debts.

39.For more than 23 years, Faneuil has designed, implemented and operated
collection centers on behalf of its many commercial clients.

40.Faneuil collects debts for dozens, and perhaps more, unrelated companies.

41.Faneuil employs hundreds of collectors.

42 After TCA assigns, places, or otherwise transfers these consumer debts to
Faneuil, Faneuil begins its process of collecting these debts by sending the
consumers debt collection letters alleging a debt is owed by these consumers to
TCA.
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43.Because these penalties are a significant source of revenue for Faneuil and TCA,
both have a desire to maximize the debts collected by Faneuil for TCA.

44.0ver the years, Faneuil and TCA have developed systems which, in the ordinary
course of its business, regularly, on behalf of themselves or others, engage in
debt collection.

45.Faneuil and TCA’s payment system for its toll roads is largely electronic and
assumes consumers have access to the Internet.

46.Under the system that TCA and/or Faneuil have developed, vehicle owners must
pay their tolls through TCA’s website within five days of passing through the
toll zone. This applies to drivers regardless of whether the driver knows that he
or she is driving on a toll road or whether the driver knows how to pay the toll.

47.1f a consumer does not have access to the Internet, perhaps because of lack of
money, or lack of sophistication, it is unlikely that the consumer will ever be
aware of what is alleged to be owed by the consumer; what is expected to be
paid by the consumer; or where the consumer is expected to make any payment.
Consequently, low income persons; senior citizens; unsophisticated persons; and
other persons without computers or Internet access are often denied the
information they need to pay whatever is alleged to be owed to TCA and/or
Faneuil in a timely manner.

48.Neither Faneuil nor TCA provide vehicle owners with any advanced notice of
the unpaid toll prior to charging them with what they call a penalty.

49.Consequently, because TCA and/or Faneuil do not use traditional modes of
communication to communicate with these persons until after a “penalty” is
assessed, and because TCA and/or Faneuil also increase the penalties allegedly
owed by these persons as time goes by, these groups of people are treated
unequally from other citizens.
I
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50.Faneuil and TCA rely on signs posted along the interstate to notify drivers that
they are entering a toll road, and provide vague, unclear directions on how to
pay the toll through the Internet.

51.Faneuil and TCA expect drivers, traveling at high speeds, to read and understand
the information conveyed on small road-side signage as they drive by these
signs.

52.Vehicle owners who do not pay the toll within five (5) calendar days are
immediately assessed a toll evasion penalty and are subsequently sent a letter
entitled “Notice of Toll Evasion” by Faneuil.

53.Vehicle owners who fail to pay the toll and the penalty within fifteen (15)
calendar days are assessed an additional penalty, regardless of whether or not
the vehicle owners are sent, or timely receive, a Notice of Toll Evasion.

54.These Notices of Toll Evasion also threaten a civil judgment and other collection
efforts if consumers do not pay the penalty and the toll, including the threat to
place a “registration lien” on the consumer’s vehicle.

55.As a result of these practices by Faneuil and TCA, nominal tolls transform into
sizable payments (over 1,700% of the original toll amount), which, upon
information and belief, often result the in payment of large amounts of money
to Faneuil and The Toll Roads by consumers.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
Thomas Trax
56.0n August 20, 2017, Mr. Trax drove north on State Route 73, and on the same

date, drove south on State Route 73.

57.During this trip, Mr. Trax unknowingly drove across a stretch of road operated
as a toll road by Defendant.

I

I
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58.Mr. Trax is alleged to have incurred certain financial obligations for use of the
toll road on or about August 20, 2017, in the form of a toll owed to Faneuil and
TCA.

59.These financial obligations were primarily for personal, family or household
purposes, and are therefore a “debt” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C.
§1692a(5).

60.These alleged obligations were money, property, or their equivalent, which is
due or owing, or alleged to be due or owing, from a natural person to another
person and are therefore a “debt” as that term is defined by California Civil Code
§1788.2(d), and a “consumer debt” as that term is defined by California Civil
Code §1788.2(f).

61.Mr. Trax did not realize that he had driven on a toll road and did not know that
he had incurred a toll.

62.Sometime thereafter, but before September 7, 2017, Mr. Trax allegedly fell
behind in the payment allegedly owed on the alleged debt.

63.Subsequently, but before September 7, 2017, the alleged debt was assigned,
placed, or otherwise transferred to Faneuil for collection.

64.0n or about September 7, 2017, a Notice of Toll Evasion was mailed to Mr.
Trax. The Notice stated that Mr. Trax owed $12.44 for the two tolls incurred on
August 20, 2017, plus a $115.00 penalty for a total of $127.44 due by October
6, 2017. The Notice also stated that if Mr. Trax did not pay $127.44 by October
6, 2017, then the total amount owed would increase to $212.44. If an unpaid
balance remained as of November 6, 2017, Mr. Trax would be subject to a
vehicle registration lien.

65.This letter by Faneuil identified itself as a letter attempting to collect a debt.

66.This letter was a “communication” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §

1692a(2), and an “initial communication” consistent with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a).
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67.This communication constitutes a “debt collection” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code
1788.2(b), and an “initial communication” consistent with Cal. Civ. Code §
1812.700(h).

68.Faneuil failed within five days after its initial communication with Mr. Trax, to
provide written notification containing a statement that unless Mr. Trax, within
thirty days after receipt of that notice, disputed the validity of the debt, or any
portion thereof, Faneuil would assume the debt was valid. Faneuil further failed,
within five days after its initial communication, with Mr. Trax to provide a
written notice containing a statement that if Mr. Trax notified Faneuil in writing,
within the thirty-day period, that the debt or any portion thereof was disputed,
Faneuil would obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against
Mr. Trax and a copy of such verification or judgment would be mailed to Mr.
Trax, and Faneuil would provide Mr. Trax with the name and address of the
original creditor. This omission by Faneuil violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

69.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, Faneuil also
violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

70.In this communication, Faneuil failed to communicate that it was attempting to
collect a debt and that any information obtained would be used for that purpose.
This omission violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

71.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(11), Faneuil
also violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. 8 1692¢(11).

72.Through this communication to Mr. Trax, Faneuil made a false representation
concerning the character, amount, or legal status of a debt. Consequently,
Faneuil violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(2)(A).

73.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11), Faneuil
also violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

I
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Jodi Cille
74.0n October 19, 2017, Ms. Cilley drove north on State Route 73.

75.During this trip, Ms. Cilley unknowingly drove across a stretch of road operated
as a toll road by Defendant.

76.Ms. Cilley is alleged to have incurred certain financial obligations for use of the
toll road on or about October 19, 2017, in the form of a toll owed to Faneuil and
TCA.

77.These financial obligations were primarily for personal, family or household
purposes, and are therefore a “debt” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C.
81692a(5).

78.These alleged obligations were money, property, or their equivalent, which is
due or owing, or alleged to be due or owing, from a natural person to another
person and are therefore a “debt” as that term is defined by California Civil Code
§1788.2(d), and a “consumer debt” as that term is defined by California Civil
Code §1788.2(f).

79.Ms. Cilley did not realize that he had driven on a toll road and did not know that
he had incurred a toll.

80.Sometime thereafter, but before October 30, 2017, Mr. Trax allegedly fell
behind in the payment allegedly owed on the alleged debt.

81.Subsequently, but before on or about September 7, 2017, the alleged debt was
assigned, placed, or otherwise transferred to Faneuil for collection.

82.0n October 30, 2017, a Notice of Toll Evasion was mailed to Ms. Cilley. The
Notice stated that Ms. Cilley owed $6.49 for the toll incurred on October 19,
2017, plus a $57.50 penalty for a total of $63.99 due by November 28, 2017.
The Notice also stated that if Ms. Cilley did not pay $63.99 by November 28,

2017, then the total amount owed would increase to $106.49. If an unpaid
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balance remained as of December 29, 2017, Ms. Cilley would be subject to a
vehicle registration lien.

83.This letter by Faneuil identified itself as a letter attempting to collect a debt.

84.This letter was a “communication” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2), and an “initial communication” consistent with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a).

85.This communication constitutes a “debt collection” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code
1788.2(b), and an “initial communication” consistent with Cal. Civ. Code §
1812.700(b).

86.Faneuil failed within five days after its initial communication with Ms. Cilley,
to provide written notification containing a statement that unless Ms. Cilley,
within thirty days after receipt of that notice, disputed the validity of the debt, or
any portion thereof, Faneuil would assume the debt was valid. Faneuil further
failed, within five days after its initial communication, with Ms. Cilley to
provide a written notice containing a statement that if Ms. Cilley notified Faneuil
in writing, within the thirty-day period, that the debt or any portion thereof was
disputed, Faneuil would obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment
against Ms. Cilley and a copy of such verification or judgment would be mailed
to Ms. Cilley, and Faneuil would provide Ms. Cilley with the name and address
of the original creditor. This omission by Faneuil violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

87.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, Faneuil also
violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. § 1692g.

88.In this communication, Faneuil failed to communicate that it was attempting to
collect a debt and that any information obtained would be used for that purpose.
This omission violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

89.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11), Faneuil
also violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).
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90.Through this communication to Mr. Trax, Faneuil made a false representation
concerning the character, amount, or legal status of a debt. Consequently,
Faneuil violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A).

91.Because this omission violated the language in 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11), Faneuil
also violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17 as it incorporates 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(11).

92.0ut of fear of incurring additional penalties and being subject to a vehicle
registration lien, Ms. Cilley paid the toll and penalty, in the amount of $106.49,
on or about January 18, 2018.

93.Plaintiffs were not given sufficient notice of the toll fees incurred or adequate
time to provide payment before Defendant assessed a severe penalty and
threatened a vehicle registration lien on Plaintiffs’ vehicles.

94.Defendant did not provide advanced notice that a penalty would be charged
against Plaintiffs if their tolls were not paid within a certain period, nor did
Defendant provide advance notice of the amount of the penalty, or when it would
accrue. Thus, Plaintiffs could not have reasonably avoided the penalty charged
against them.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

95.Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of themselves and all other persons

similarly-situated.
96.The class which Plaintiffs seek to represent is defined as:

All persons within the State of California who received a Notice of Toll
Evasion after traveling on a toll road operated by Defendant within four
years from the time of the filing of this Complaint.
97.Plaintiffs each fall within the class definition and are each a member of the class.
98.Excluded from the class is the Defendant, Defendant’s agents and employees,

and the Judge to whom this action is assigned and any member of the Judge’s

staff and immediate family.
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99.Plaintiffs reserve the right to expand the class definition to seek recovery on
behalf of additional persons as warranted as facts are learned in further
investigation and discovery.

100. The members of the class are capable of being described without managerial
or administrative problems. The members of the class are readily ascertainable
from the information and records in the possession, custody, or control of
Defendant.

101. The class is composed of thousands of individuals. Therefore, it is reasonable
to conclude that the class is sufficiently numerous such that individual joinder
of all members is impractical. The disposition of the claims in a class action will
provide substantial benefit to the parties and the Court in avoiding a multiplicity
of identical suits. The class can be identified through Defendant’s records.

102. There are common questions of law and fact that predominate over any
questions affecting only the individual members of the class. The wrongs alleged
against Defendant are common to each and every member of the putative class.

103. Plaintiffs both received Defendant’s standard Notice of Evasion form. As
such, Plaintiffs are asserting claims that are typical of the proposed class.
Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the
class in that Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to any member of the class.

104. Plaintiffs and the members of the class have all suffered harm as a result of
Defendant’s unlawful and wrongful conduct. Absent a class action, consumers
will continue to suffer economic harm. Because of the size of the individual class
members’ claims, few class members could afford to seek legal redress for the
wrongs complained of herein.

105. Defendant’s defenses are and will be typical of and the same or identical for
each of the members of the class and will be based on the same legal and factual

theories. There are no unique defenses to any of the class members’ claims.
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106. A class action is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of
this controversy. Class-wide damages are essential to induce Defendant to
comply with federal law. The interest of class members in individually
controlling the prosecution of separate claims against Defendant is small. The
maximum statutory damages in an individual action for a violation of this statute
are minimal. Management of these claims is likely to present significantly fewer
difficulties than those presented in many class claims.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW (“UCL”)
(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17200, et seq.)

107. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, all preceding paragraphs, as though fully

set forth in this cause of action.

108. Each Plaintiff is a “person” as that term is defined under California Business
& Professions Code § 17201.

109. Defendant is a “person” as that term is defined under California Business &
Professions Code § 17201.

110. Plaintiffs have a private right of action on both an individual and
representative basis pursuant to California Business & Professions Code §
17204.

111. California Business & Professions Code 817200, states in relevant part, the
following:

As used in this chapter, unfair competition shall mean and include any
unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive,
untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited by Chapter 1
(commencing with Section 17500) of Part 3 of Division 7 of the Business and
Professions Code.

112. Defendant engaged in unfair competition, as that term is understood in
California Business & Professions Code 817200, by its unlawful, unfair and

fraudulent business practice as explained in detail above.
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113. Defendant failed to adequately alert drivers that they were entering a toll
road.

114. Defendant failed to notify drivers that they owed a toll until after Defendant
had assessed a late fee.

115. Defendant’s actions caused economic damage to Plaintiffs as detailed above.

116. Plaintiffs and the class, and each of them, have been damaged by said practice
and seek relief as prayed below.

117. Asadirect and proximate result of the aforementioned acts and omissions by
Defendant, Defendant received and continues to hold monies rightfully
belonging to Plaintiffs and others similarly situated.

118. Plaintiffs reserve the right to allege further conduct constituting unfair
competition within the meaning of Section 17200, as the misconduct alleged
herein is ongoing and continues to this date.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT (“FDCPA”)
(15 U.S.C. 88 1692, et seq.)

119. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, all preceding paragraphs, as though fully

set forth in this cause of action.

120. The foregoing acts and omissions constitute numerous and multiple
violations of the FDCPA, including but not limited to each and every one of the
above-cited provisions of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 88 1692, et seq.

121. As a result of each and every violation of the FDCPA, Plaintiffs are entitled
to any actual damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1); statutory damages
in an amount up to $1,000.00 pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 8 1692k(a)(2)(A); and,
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3) from
Defendant.

I

I
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
ROSENTHAL FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT (“ROSENTHAL ACT”)
(15 U.S.C. 881692, et seq.)

122. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, all preceding paragraphs, as though fully

set forth in this cause of action.

123. The foregoing acts and omissions constitute numerous and multiple
violations of the Rosenthal Act, including but not limited to each and every one
of the above-cited provisions of the Rosenthal Act, Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 1788-
1788.32.

124. As a result of each and every violation of the Rosenthal Act, Plaintiffs are
entitled to any actual damages pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.30(a); statutory
damages for a knowing or willful violation in the amount up to $1,000.00
pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code 8 1788.30(b); and reasonable attorney’s fees and
costs pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.30(c) from Defendant.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant Plaintiffs and the

putative class the following relief against Defendant, and each of them:

125. For an Order certifying this matter as a Class Action;

126. For an Order that Plaintiffs be appointed as the Class Representatives;

127. For an Order that Plaintiffs’ attorneys be appointed as Class Counsel;

128. For all compensatory damages;

129. For all special damages;

130. For restitution and injunctive relief pursuant to Business and Professions
Code § 17203;

131. For recovery of reasonable attorney’s fees pursuant to California Code of
Civil Procedure 8§ 1021.5;

132. An award of actual damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1);

-1 8_
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133. An award of statutory damages of $1,000.00 pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 8§
1692k(a)(2)(A);

134. An award of costs of litigation and reasonable attorney’s fees, pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3);

135. An award of actual damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 1788.30(a);

136. An award of statutory damages of $1,000.00 pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code 8
1788.30(b);

137. An award of costs of litigation and reasonable attorney’s fees, pursuant to
Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.30(c).

138. For costs of suit; and

139. For all other such relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Date: February 21, 2018 /s/ Abbas Kazerounian
Abbas Kazerounian
Attorney for Plaintiff

Additional Counsel for Plaintiffs:

Joshua B. Swigart, Esg. (SBN: 225557)
josh@westcoastlitigation.com

Robert L. Hyde, Esq. (SBN: 227183)
bob@westcoastlitigation.com

HYDE & SWIGART APC

2221 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 101
San Diego, CA 92108

Telephone: (619) 233-7770

Facsimile: (619) 297-1022
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